A Review on Emerging Pathogenic Bacteria in Marine Environment

By

Faria Sultana Mollika 16126004 & Mahfuz-Un-Nesa 16226006

A thesis submitted to the Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Microbiology

> Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences BRAC University July 2021

> > © 2021. BRAC University All rights reserved.

Declaration

It is hereby declared that

- The thesis submitted is our own original work while completing degree at BRAC University.
- 2. The thesis does not contain material previously published or written by a third party, except where this is appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.
- 3. The thesis does not contain material which has been accepted, or submitted, for any other degree or diploma at a university or other institution.
- 4. We have acknowledged all main sources of help.

Student's Full Name & Signature:

Faria Sultana Mollika 16126004

Student's Full Name & Signature:

Mahfuz-Un-Nesa 16226006

Approval:

The thesis/project titled "A Review on Emerging Pathogenic Bacteria in Marine Environment." submitted by Faria Sultana Mollika (16126004) of Spring 2016 and Mahfuz-Un-Nesa (16226006) of Fall, 2016 has been accepted as satisfactory in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Microbiology on July,2021.

Examining Committee:

Supervisor: (Member)

Dr. Fahim Kabir Monjurul Haque Assistant Professor, Mathematics and Natural Sciences BRAC University

Program Coordinator: (Member)

> Dr. Mahbubul Hasan Siddiqee Assistant Professor, Mathematics and Natural Sciences BRAC University

Departmental Head: (Chair)

A.F.M Yusuf Haider, PhD Professor and Chairperson, Mathematics and Natural Sciences BRAC University

Abstract:

Marine pathogenic bacteria possess significant public health risks due to bathing in coastal water and consumption of seafood. Different man-made and environmental factors help these pathogenic bacteria grow and survive in the adverse condition of the ocean. The genetic mutation also influences the survival of pathogenic bacteria in the marine environment. The increasing rate of marine pathogen outbreaks has become a public health concern over the world. So, scientists must be aware of these groups of pathogenic bacteria while diagnosing a patient or detecting a new pathogen. Recently, researchers are using different developed detection methods like culture-based methods, RT-PCR, PFGE, etc., to detect these marine pathogenic bacteria. This paper overviews the occurrence of emerging marine pathogenic bacteria, their sources, route of transmission, and the disease that they cause.

Acknowledgment:

Firstly, we would like to express our sincere gratitude to the Almighty, whose mercy allowed us to complete our under graduation successfully.

Next, we would like to express my utmost gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Fahim Kabir Monjurul Haque, Assistant Professor, Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, for his constant support and encouragement throughout the period of our undergraduate thesis. His friendliness has helped us to overcome most of our challenges regarding thesis, so we are tremendously grateful to him.

Our deepest gratitude goes to all of our honorable faculties throughout the past four years of undergraduate life, who have constantly inspired and motivated us to do better with every passing semester. We would also like to extend my gratefulness to Professor A.F.M Yusuf Haider, PhD, Chairperson, Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, and also Dr. Mahboob Hossain, Professor, Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, and of course, Dr. Mahbubul Hasan Siddiqee, Senior Lecturer and Program Coordinator (Microbiology), Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, for their ever-so-friendly personalities and encouragement which help students to build a light vision in their life.

Table of Content:

Contents

Declarationii
Approval:iii
Abstract:iv
Acknowledgment:
Table of Content:
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Emerging pathogenic bacteria in marine environment2
Chapter 3: Factors affecting the survival of bacteria in seawater:4
Chapter 3.1: Abiotic factors affecting survival5
Chapter 3.2: Biotic factors affecting survival6
Chapter 3.3: Molecular mechanisms involved in seawater survival7
Chapter 4: Case study and emerging threat of Marine Pathogens8
Chapter 5: Detection of pathogenic bacteria from marine environment11
Chapter 6: Conclusion
References:14

Table 1: Pathogenic Bacteria in Marine Environment	3
Table 2: Detection Methods of Pathogenic Bacteria	11

Chapter 1: Introduction

Worldwide human are greatly connected with ocean. However, man-made environmental changes, such as global warming, climate change, pollution etc can lead to ocean conditions that greatly harming the health of humans, marine species, and ecosystems. Contamination of lakes, rivers, and coastal waters raises significant public health issues. Among the leading sources of chemical and biological contamination of these waters and associated beaches are sewer systems, septic tanks, storm water runoff, industrial wastes, wastewater injection wells, cesspits, animal wastes, commercial and private boat wastes, and human recreation[1]. In 1997, 649 beach closings or advisories were caused by sewage spills and overflows [2]. In Florida alone, approximately 500 million gallons of sewage were released along the coast each year during the late 1980s[3]. Thus one of the primary concerns in public health is the risk that humans using the marine environment for recreational activities will encounter microbial pathogens. The risk to human health due to recreational exposure— swimming where sewage contaminates marine waters, for example—has been documented [4][5]. Studies conducted along beaches in Hong Kong reported that swimmers were at higher risk of gastrointestinal and respiratory illness and eye, ear, and skin infections than no swimmers, not surprisingly, these risks were greatest at beaches known to be polluted [6]. Cheung and colleagues estimated that in 1990, approximately 58,000 episodes of illness in Hong Kong were the result of swimming at a single beach contaminated by sewage[6]. In Great Britain, Alexander and colleagues (1992) concluded that children who swam in contaminated marine waters were more likely than those who did not to develop symptoms of illness[7]. Apart from that, seafood poisoning, particularly secondary to microbial contamination, accounts for a large and growing proportion of all food poisoning incidents. In the United States, fish, shellfish, and other marine organisms are responsible for at least one of six food poisoning outbreaks with a known etiology, and for 15% of the deaths associated with these particular outbreaks [8][9]. From 1971 to 1990, seafood was the single most important vehicle in food poisoning outbreaks in Korea (32%) and Japan (22%), where seafood was responsible for 43% and 62%, respectively, of outbreak-related fatalities [10][11].

Hence, human and marine microbes have always been impacting each other through the course of time. This impact and relationship between the residents of coastal regions and marine microbes is even more important now, as the number of diseases and outbreaks caused by the marine microorganisms keep escalating with time. Hence, it is very. For that, it is essential to know about their source, route of transmission, possibility of outbreak,

pathogenicity, and the biotic or abiotic factors affecting them. These are also required to ensure proper and safe marine environment, water quality etc. Nowadays, many countries have their own parameter microorganism for their oceanic zone to determine the seawater quality. Sea water quality determines and controls the overall biodiversity in the marine environment. So, this has a huge impact on the type of pathogens available in that environment.

Marine bacterial pathogens affect humans in a number of ways, including getting incorporated in the food sources or entering the body through fecal-oral route etc. Human bacterial infection from marine sources is getting more and more of an issue, as people is getting more involved in recreational activities related to oceans and seas, depending on foods from marine sources, using marine environment for commercial purposes etc. So, it has become important to know more about the origin, sources, transmission route etc of these bacterial pathogens. In this paper we have discussed the different bacterial pathogens for humans available in the marine environment, their source, occurrences, Biotic and abiotic factors impacting their growth and the threat emerging marine pathogens might have on human health.

Chapter 2: Emerging pathogenic bacteria in marine environment

Marine environment contains billions of microorganisms, including virus, bacteria, algae, fungi etc. We can also categorize them as non-pathogenic and pathogenic. In this paper, we are solely focusing on pathogenic marine bacteria. The source of these various species of pathogens ranges from indigenous sources contamination from different sources, such as, sewage, fecal, fishes and animals etc. In case of contamination, Foodborne illness is caused by fecal contamination of food, which is produced either directly by diseased or asymptomatic food handlers or indirectly by infected domestic animals reared for food. The commonly attributed to human activities at the coast line increase the level of pathogenic microbes. These pathogens can transmit to humans through direct contact, inhalation and consumption. In case of consumption of food, insanitary procedures during product handling are the most common source of enteric pathogen contamination in seafood. Another way is through fishes that are eaten raw, when they are harvested from polluted sea water. The pathogens found in the marine environment are responsible for a broad spectrum of acute and chronic human diseases like gastroenteritis, ocular and respiratory infections, hepatitis, myocarditis, meningitis, and neural paralysis. The origin of most marine pathogens is feces with only a very few "autochthonous" bacterial pathogens which are able to grow in the marine coastal environment. The route of transmission of these marine bacterial pathogens can also vary from fecal oral route to vehicle borne.

Group of Organism	Organism	Source	Disease	Transmission route	Occurrence	Reference
	Aeromonas hydrophila	Sewage contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis, Dermohypodermitis	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne, zoonotic	South India, Southern Italy, South Coast Iran	[12][13][1 4][15][16][17][18][19][20][21]
	Vibrio cholerae	Inhabitant	Gastroenteritis, Dermohypodermitis	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne	France, Italy, Spain, USA, Philippines, Malaysia, Pakistan, Bangladesh	[12][13][2 2][23][24][18][19][21]
	Vibrio vulnificus	Inhabitant	Gastroenteritis, Wound infections, Dermohypodermitis	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne	Denmark, France, Italy, Spain, China, Taiwan	[12][13][2 4][25][26][27][28][29][30][31][3 2][21][33]
Rod(-ve)	Vibrio parahaemo lyticus	Inhabitant	Gastroenteritis, Wound infections, Dermohypodermitis	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne	France, Italy, USA, China	[12][13][2 4][34][35][36][21][37][38]
	Vibrio alginolytic us	Inhabitant	Gastroenteritis, Wound infections	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne	Italy, Germany, Bangladesh	[12][13][2 4][34][39][21][40]
	Salmonella spp.	Fecal contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral	EU, Portugal, Spain	[12][13][4 1][42][43][18][19]
	Shigella spp.	Fecal contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral		[12][44]
	Escherichi a coli	Fecal contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral		[12][45][1 8][46][19][47]
	Plesiomona s shigelloide s	Fecal contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral		[13]
	Pseudomon as aeruginosa	Commonly found	Skin Disease, Ophthalmic Infection, Ear	vehicle borne	Japan, USA	[12][48][4 9][50][18][19][21]

Table 1: Pathogenic Bacteria in Marine Environment

			infection			
	Shewanella algae	Inhabitant	Spondylodiscitis, Acute exudative tonsillitis, Arthritis, Osteomyelitis, Ear infection, Bacteremia, Skin disease, Dermohypodermitis	Direct, vehicle borne	Italy, France, Denmark	[12][51][5 2][53][54][55][56][57][58][59][5 4]
	Shewanella putrefacien s	Inhabitant	Skin disease, Dermohypodermitis , Cerebral abscess, Bacteremia	Direct, vehicle borne	Denmark	[12][51][5 4][60][61][62][63][64]
Spiral rod(-ve)	Campyloba cter spp	Commonly found	Gastroenteritis, Skin infection	vehicle borne	Finland, Spain, Italy, Iran, Netherlands	[13][65][6 6][67][68]
	Helicobact er pylori	Fecal contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral	Italy, USA	[12][69][7 0][71][72]
	Arcobacter butzleri	Contaminatio n animal	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral		
Curved rod(-ve)	Arcobacter skirowii	Contaminatio n animal	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral	Iran, Italy, Baltic Sea	[13][73][7 4]
	Arcobacter cryaerophil us	Contaminatio n animal	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral		
Rod(+ve)	Listeria monocytog enes	Sewage contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis	Fecal-oral, vehicle borne	Egypt, New Zealand, Turkey	[75][76][7 7][78][79]
Cocci(+ve)	Staphyloco ccus aureus	Contaminatio n	Gastroenteritis, Skin Disease, Ophthalmic Infection, Ear infection	Direct, vehicle borne	USA(Seattle, Florida, California)	[12][80][5 0][81][18][46][19][21]
Acid fast bacilli	Mycobacte rium marinum	Commonly found	Skin Disease	Direct, vehicle borne	Australia, USA	[12][82][6 1][83] [84][85]

Chapter 3: Factors affecting the survival of bacteria in seawater:

Because of the unique composition of seawater there are some microorganisms which can survive in marine environments. The microbes which can survive in the ocean must deal with different biotic and abiotic challenges such as grazing, solar radiation and temperature, organic matter availability, and particle load etc. There is increasing evidence that many pathogens found as pollutants in marine environments can survive harsh environmental conditions for prolonged periods of time in a spore-like, "viable but nonculturable" (VBNC) state. [86]. Pathogens indigenous the sea has evolved to their surroundings and their spread can be triggered by a variety of causes. Warm water temperatures, for example, appear to have a favorable influence on the quantity of human invasive pathogens, which tend to thrive best in a mesophilic environment. Furthermore, increased light can promote the development of marine heterotrophic bacteria by boosting nutrient availability through photochemical degradation of complex polymers to liberate organic metabolites, which increases nutritional availability.

Chapter 3.1: Abiotic factors affecting survival

- i. Solar Radiation: Pathogenic bacteria can be destroyed by solar radiation. As UV radiation decreases with water depth and turbidity, bacteria and viruses in deeper water layers and particle rich water are less stressed by UV radiation than in clear surface water. [13]Survival of enteric bacteria in the sea is greatly affected both by UV and visible light. In fact, light is considered to be the single most important contributor to bacterial die-off in the sea, although its effects are restricted to shallow depths. A depth-dependent effect was also implicated in the importance of the radiation wavelength. Moreover, Fecal microorganisms differed in their sensitivity to light in seawater, and greater sunlight exposure was required to inactivate enterococci compared to fecal coliforms.[87] Sunlight can stimulate growth of marine indigenous heterotrophic bacteria by increasing nutrient availability by photochemical breakdown of complex polymers to release organic metabolites.[86].
- ii. **Temperature:** Water temperature has a different effect on bacteria and viruses. Most pathogenic bacteria are more abundant at higher water temperature, because survival or even growth increases at higher temperature this is especially valid for the authouchthonous bacteria like vibrios. With decreasing water temperature, an increased fraction turns into a viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state, the infectivity and the survival rate decreases. By contrast, some enterobacteria survive longer at colder temperatures.[13]. Warm water temperatures appear to have a positive effect on the abundance of human invasive pathogens, which tend to have mesophilic growth optima. In temperate environments, the distribution of such pathogens is typically seasonal with peaks in both environmental abundance and human infection occurring during the warmer months. This has been demonstrated for human pathogenic

Aeromonas spp. Shewanella algae and vibrios including V. cholera V. parahaemolyticus and V. vulnificus.[86].

iii. Salinity: Enteric bacteria are subjected to an initial osmotic upshock when discharged into the sea, and their capacity to resist this through a variety of osmoregulatory systems may have a significant impact on their ongoing survival in the marine environment.[87]

E. coli survival in seawater/distilled water combinations at 37°C in varying ratios (0, 25, 50, 75, and 100% seawater) after 48 hours, showed that at a concentration of 25% seawater, exhibited the best survival rate (74%). Troussellier et al. studied the interactions between salinity, light, and the presence of organic matter. Salinity was shown to increase E. coli sensitivity (CFU) solely in the presence of light, independent of the presence of organic matter. [87]

iv. pH: Temperature, pressure, and the photosynthetic and respiratory activities of microorganisms all influence the pH of seawater, which typically varies between 7.5 and 8.5. The most suitable pH for E. coli survival was discovered to be 5. Furthermore, the adverse effects on E. coli survival are increased by the pH of seawater, which is typically about 8.[87]

v. Nutrient: It's a little-known fact that E. coli can grow in seawater nearly as well as it does on rich laboratory media in the presence of appropriate nutrient levels. E.coli may grow in seawater due to the availability of nutrients, but their absence does not always mean that non-growing cells will die. Interestingly, cells that were forced to thrive in nutrient-rich seawater were more vulnerable to mutations.[87]

Chapter 3.2: Biotic factors affecting survival

i. **Grazing and competition:** All pathogenic microorganisms are submitted to grazing in the marine environment to a certain extent. Most relevant grazers are flagellates, ciliates, zooplankton (cladocerans) and filter feeding bivalves, ascidians, polychaetes and sponges. Grazing implies ingestion and digestion of the microorganisms. Bacteria are to some extent eliminated by grazing.[13] Various studies indicate that the main predators of bacteria in the marine environment are protozoa. Using filters with different pore sizes and antibiotics to suppress indigenous bacterial activity, it was shown that bacterial competition, antagonism, and even bacterial predation were relatively unimportant in coliform removal. It was also shown that the reduction in E. coli populations paralleled an increase in the number of protozoa.[87]

- ii. Bacteriophages: Bacteriophages can infect bacteria and lead (later on - and this time period is highly variable) to lysis and - thus elimination of the bacterial cells. Bacteria in the marine environment can either be infected before they entered the marine environment (e.g. in the intestine or the sewage treatment facility) or be infected in the marine environment. Due to their specificity, the host spectrum of a specific phage is very restricted, usually to a specific bacterial species. Since the probability to be infected by a virus of the right specificity is dependent on the abundance/density of a bacterial host, bacteria with a high abundance in the coastal environment - such as vibrios or Aeromonas sp. - are much more likely to be infected and killed by viruses in the marine environment. For bacteria unable to grow in the marine environment, infection by viruses of marine origin is not likely; by contrast the presence of bacteriophages specific for enterobacteria can be used as a tracer for fecal contamination in shellfish or in coastal water.[13]. Many studies detected coliphages in marine waters subject to sewage contamination. It was also shown that phages detected in seawater were active against E. coli, Aerobacter aerogenes, and Serratia marinorubra. The presence of coliphages was investigated in relation to their usage as indicators for fecal contamination and in many cases a positive correlation between fecal phages, enteric viruses, and other pathogens has been recorded. Nevertheless, the presence of enteric bacterial infectious phages does not necessarily indicate their actual activity in removing coliforms from marine water.[87]
- iii. **Toxins and antibiotics:** Many studies throughout the 40s to 60s, showed some negative impact of sea water on marine bacteria. It was later found to be due to some toxins or antibiotics produced by marine microorganisms. There have been several studies that attempted to find out any sort of effect of sea water on marine bacteria, all of which concluded that, such sea water toxins and antibiotics, are not usually formed under natural conditions or are able to eliminate their target pathogen.

Chapter 3.3: Molecular mechanisms involved in seawater survival

i. Effect of specific mutations: Some pathogenic bacteria have effect of specific mutations. Past attention to the molecular mechanisms determining survival of enteric bacteria such as E. coli in artificial seawater or sterile seawater in the dark revealed very few genes crucial to seawater survival. Only six mutations were shown to have a significant effect. The most dominant among them was in rpoS. The other genes in

which mutations were reported to be significant were otsA, relA, spoT (but only on top of a relA deletion) and one or both membrane porins ompC and ompF.[87]

ii. Genes induced upon seawater exposure: Another possible strategy in the search for genes playing a role in seawater survival is to look for those activated in response to seawater exposure. Such a study was conducted by Rozen et al. who screened a 687member E. coli promoter:: luxCDABE fusion library. Twenty-two promoters were found to be activated in seawater amended by sufficient nutrients to allow bioluminescent expression but not growth.[87]

Chapter 4: Case study and emerging threat of Marine Pathogens

All of the known marine pathogenic bacteria pose a significant public health threat. Some pathogens occur naturally in marine waters. Others are carried into waterways after defecation/urination/shedding from human or animal hosts (e.g. via sewage effluent, agriculture and storm water runoff, sewage from ships, recreational population using the water, industrial processes, wildlife, septic tanks near the shore and urban development). Rivers discharging into coastal areas may carry abundant micro-organisms from these diverse sources. Contamination from human sources (e.g. fecal pollution) presents a greater risk to humans than contamination from animal sources because many animal pathogens are not infectious to humans. Risks to humans from pathogenic organisms are higher in areas with large population densities or with a significant tourism. Recently, different marine pathogens outbreaks are recorded in different areas of world.

Aeromonas hydrophila is a heterotrophic, Gram-negative, rod-shaped bacterium mainly found in areas with a warm climate. Aeromonas spp. is commonly found in ground water; drinking water at treatment plants, distribution systems, and reservoirs; and in clean and polluted lakes and rivers. So, it is contaminants in ocean which causes gastroenteritis, dermohypodermitis. Aeromonas hydrophila in fish, shrimp, lobster and crab caught off the south coast of Iran. A total of 541 samples including, 133 freshly caught fish of 4 different types including Otollithes ruber, Famous argenteus, Parastromateus niger and Psettodes erumet, 240 shrimp of 4 different species including Penaeus monodon, P. semisulcatus, P. indicus, and P. merguiensis, 108 lobster (Panutirus homarus) and 60 crab (Panulirus homarus) were collected in 3 provinces along Persian Gulf in the south coast of Iran.[14] Moreover, Aeromonas spp is also found in freshly caught finfish and prawn in South India and aquaculture production in China. [15][88]

Campylobacter infection is likely low, contaminated surface water may cause infection through swimming *campylobacters* are commonly found in natural waters, such as rivers, streams, lakes and ocean. *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* are leading causes of human bacterial gastroenteritis in industrialized countries. In 1998, in Finland, the number of reported *Campylobacter* cases exceeded that of salmonella for the first time. [68]. In addition, *Campylobacteria*, mainly *Campylobacter jejuni*, were found in 12% of bathing waters in a study in Finland.[12]

Helicobacter pylori, a gastric pathogen, is believed to be transmitted via the fecal-oral route as well as the oral-oral route. Its presence and viability in environmental waters is not well characterized. Two coastal beach sites were repeatedly positive in 2007. During this two year study, 137 samples were collected from a total of 23 sites from the Atlantic coast (Rehoboth Beach, Fenwick Island Beach, North Inlet Beach), Delaware Bay, Inland Bays (Rehoboth, Indian River, and Little Assawoman Bays; TowerRoadandHolt's Landing) and Broadkill River. [70]

Certain atypical bacteria have been reported to cause infections after contact with seawater. One such example is *M. marinum. Mycobacterium marinum* is a nontuberculous mycobacterium that causes infections in humans ranging from simple cutaneous lesions to debilitating disseminated infections. *M. marinum* is an endemic fish pathogen found in a variety of aquatic settings, such as fish tanks, swimming pools, and natural bodies of water. Infection is most often reported among fish fanciers and participants of waterborne activities chlorination has reduced the number of swimming pool acquired cases. While cases are rare, with an estimated annual incidence of 0.27 cases per 100,000 persons in the United States, outbreaks have been recently reported among patrons of seafood markets in New York City and at a fish farm in China [82]. Again, two cases of occupationally acquired *Mycobacterium marinum* infection in Chinese restaurant workers whose dealings with fish in Melbourne, Australia.[84]

Salmonella is the type of bacteria that's the most frequently reported cause of food-related illness. It can cause an upset stomach, diarrhea, fever, and pain and cramping in your belly. Salmonella may be found in water sources contaminated with the feces of infected humans or animals. Waste can enter the ocean water through different ways, including sewage

overflows, sewage systems that are not working properly, polluted storm water runoff, and agricultural runoff. In September 1998, an outbreak of gastroenteritis occurred in a coastal Aboriginal community in the Northern Territory over a seven day period. An investigation was conducted by the Center for Disease Control, Territory Health Services. Thirty-six cases were detected and 17% (n=6) were hospitalized. *Salmonella chester* was isolated from eight of nine stool specimens. Sixty-two percent of cases interviewed (n=28) reported consumption of a green turtle (Chelonia mydas) within a median of 24 hours prior to onset of illness. [89]

Another case report discusses a rare presentation of salmonella bacteremia after an oral exposure to a sand dollar in a pediatric patient. A 2-year-old Hispanic male presented to the emergency department with a chief complaint of diarrhea and fever for 8 days after a family trip to Destin beach, Florida, during the sea turtle nesting season. The symptoms began a day after the patient took a bite on a sand dollar found on the beach that caused a small wound inside his cheek. The laboratory testing done in the emergency department was remarkable for blood and stool culture testing positive for non-typhoid salmonella. [90]

Shewanella algae, mainly found in marine environments, are a rare pathogen in humans, especially in healthy children. *Shewanella algae* and *Shewanella putrefaciens* increase in summer because there is more algal decomposition at this time. Other articles reported osteo-articular infections, arthritis and osteomyelitis by *S. algae*. Two other patients with lower leg ulcers had bacteraemia. In Denmark, *S. putrefaciens* and *S. algae* can be isolated from seawater with a salinity of 15–20%.[12][54]

Incidences of *Staphylococcus aureus* and its methicillin- resistant strains (MRSA) have risen worldwide, and thus increased understanding of the routes of human exposure. One approach to examining this question is to analyse beach sand and seawater. Mohammed et al. studied the survival of non-enteric pathogens in sand, investigating the factors affecting the survival and distribution of *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa*. Their results show that there is greater *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa* survival and proliferation in sterile beach sand than in seawater. Sand particles between 850 μ m and 2 mm constituted the major micro-niche. A study in California detected *S. aureus* in samples of seawater (59%) and sand (53%). The significant explanatory variables for *S. aureus* in seawater were water temperature, or presence of enterococci in the seawater, and the number of swimmers.[12][81]

There is a clear impact of global warming on the incidence of *vibrios*. Ocean temperature rise increases the prevalence of cholera cases. In Germany, thirteen cases were reported between

1993 and 2013 [29]. In Sweden and Finland, 89 cases were described during summer 2014.[30]. Non-cholera *vibrios* are also concerned by this phenomenon, including at high latitudes[28][31], including lethal infections involving V. vulnificus.[32] A recent study showed the persistence of E. coli, enterococci and Bacteroidales HF183 in fresh and salt water for 3 to 5 days.[91]

Finally, from these case studies of human pathogen from marine environment represent the emerging public health risk. It needs more concern of doctors and researcher while diagnose a patient. These marine pathogens impose health risk to people who lives near beach or have an occupational relation with sea.

Chapter 5: Detection of pathogenic bacteria from marine environment

Positive identification of marine microorganisms at or above defined threshold concentrations is required for detection. For clinical reasons, detection is frequently adequate, but for environmental sample analysis, quantification of toxic populations is preferred. The approaches also range considerably in terms of implementation time and cost, thus the most precise method may not necessarily be the best option when making quick decisions.

The parameters that influence human exposure to the pathogen (e.g., availability, virulence/infectious dosage, way of exposure) and the method's restrictions (e.g., susceptibility, selectivity, dynamic range, expense) should be considered when selecting methods for monitoring and detecting pathogen populations. To identify and detect marine infections, scientists employ a variety of methods. Culture, immunology, and nucleic acid-based methods are the three primary types of methods used to identify and quantify microbial populations.

Name	Sample	Method	Referen ce
Campylobacter spp	marine recreational water	Culture based	[92],[86]
	Poultry	Modified RT-PCR followed by hybridization	
	Mussels and oysters	PCR and line-blot hybridization	
	Water, food	Real-time PCR	

Table 2: Detection Methods of Pathogenic Bacteria

	Food outbreaks—clinical isolated strains	PFGE (PulseNet)		
	Water, and waste water	Modified PCR		
Salmonella spp	Lagoon in brazil,	Culture based	[92],[86]	
	Food (outbreak)	Real-time PCR		
	Waste samples	PCR following enrichment or directly from the sample		
	Water and Shellfish	PCR		
	Sewage polluted sea water	PCR		
	Water, and waste water	PCR		
	Harp Seals	ELISA		
Staphylococcus spp	Sea water	Culture based	[92],[86]	
	Water/food outbreaks— clinical isolates	Colony hybridization (US-FDA established protocols)		
	Household waste sample	PCR following culture enrichment or directly from the sampl		
E. coli	North carolina and southern california coastal water	combined culture and PCR methods	[92],[86]	
	Food	PCR following enrichment Colony hybridization following enrichment		
	Artificially contaminated food	Real-Time PCR (BAX rkit, Dupont)		
	Water	Real-Time PCR following enrichment with magnetic beads		
	Waste water	Multiplex PCR		
	Food outbreaks—clinical isolated strains	PFGE (Pulse net)		
	Wastewater wetlands	Real Time PCR	_	
Shigella spp	Algal mat sample	PCR	[92],[86]	
	Sewage polluted seawater	PCR	1	
	Water	PCR	-	
Listeria monocytogenes	Food outbreaks—clinical isolated strains	PFGE/ PCR/ dot blot Hybridization	[86]	
	Food	PCR ollowing culture enrichment]	
	Household Waste sample	PCR following culture enrichment or directly from the sample		

Yersinia spp	Water/food outbreaks— clinical isolates	Colony hybridization/ Dot-blot hybridization	[86]
	Raw meat	Real time PCR	
	Household waste water samples	PCR following enrichment or directly from the sample	
	Water and waste water	PCR following culture enrichment	
Vibrio cholerae	Raw oyster	Real time PCR	[86]
	Waste water estuarine water	Multiplex PCR	-
	sewage polluted sea	PCR	
	Seawater	PCR/Colony hybridization following enrichment	-
	Seawater where v. cholerae is endemic (Bangladesh)	Immunofluorescence microscopy	
	Water/food outbreaks— clinical isolates	ELISA	
	Estuarine water	Agglutination following culture enrichment	
V. parahaemolyticus	Raw oysters	Colony hybridization following enrichment/ real time PCR following culture enrichment	[86]
	Sewage polluted water	PCR	
	Seawater	Most-probable-number PCR	
	Seafood	PCR with enrichment	
V. vulnificus	Seawater, sediment, fish	Hybridization following culture enrichment	[86]
	Oysters	PFGE]
	Eels	ELISA	
	water	Colony hybridization.	
Vibrio coralliilyticus	Coral reef	PCR	[93]

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This brief overview demonstrates that the pathogenic marine bacteria which are causing different diseases in human. In recent years, different changes of environmental factors give rise to different emerging pathogens in marine which has altered disease distribution in the

world. Virulence of these waterborne pathogens varies greatly depending on environmental conditions and the type of pathogen. Moreover, transmission of waterborne infectious to humans via seawater is a complex process depending on the type of pathogen, infectious dose, immune status of the human and a multitude of other factors. Certain microorganisms are developing chemical resistant increasingly. This produce the risks for sea users, whether professional sailors, recreational boaters or bathers. Doctors treating these people need to take into account the changes in microbial ecology for diagnoses and therapy orientation. This article will give physician a new idea of emerging disease from marine pathogens, improving diagnosis, and prevent marine diseases. Lastly, this field of study is still need more researches to develop, validated and standardized of rapid detection methods for the most relevant pathogenic bacteria in seawater and seafood. Otherwise, if the present condition is continued for some more years, emerging disease through marine will be a dangerous threat for public health.

References:

- D. W. Griffin, E. K. Lipp, M. R. McLaughlin, and J. B. Rose, "Marine recreation and public health microbiology: Quest for the ideal indicator," *Bioscience*, vol. 51, no. 10, pp. 817–825, 2001, doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0817:MRAPHM]2.0.CO;2.
- [2] E. Maslin, "Testing the waters," Offshore Eng., vol. 39, no. 10, pp. 60–62, 2014.
- [3] S. Neshyba, Oceanography Perspectives on a Fluid Earth. 1987.
- [4] V. J. Cabelli, "Health Effects Criteria for Marine Recreational Waters," *Environ. Prot. Agency*, 1983.
- [5] G. Rees, K. Pond, K. Johal, S. Pedley, and A. Rickards, "Microbiological analysis of selected coastal bathing waters in the U.K., Greece, Italy and Spain," *Water Res.*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 2335–2340, 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(97)00451-X.
- [6] W. H. S. Cheung, K. C. K. Chang, R. P. S. Hung, and J. W. L. Kleevens, "Health effects of beach water pollution in Hong Kong," *Epidemiol. Infect.*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp.

139–162, 1990, doi: 10.1017/S0950268800047737.

- [7] L. M. Alexander, A. Heaven, A. Tennant, and R. Morris, "Symptomatology of children in contact with sea water contaminated with sewage," *J. Epidemiol. Community Health*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 340–344, 1992, doi: 10.1136/jech.46.4.340.
- [8] L. E. Fleming *et al.*, "Oceans and human health: Emerging public health risks in the marine environment," *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, vol. 53, no. 10–12, pp. 545–560, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.012.
- [9] E. K. Lipp and J. B. Rose, "The role of seafood in foodborne diseases in the United States of America.," *Rev. Sci. Tech.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 620–640, 1997, doi: 10.20506/rst.16.2.1048.
- [10] W. C. Lee, T. Sakai, M. J. Lee, M. Hamakawa, S. M. Lee, and I. M. Lee, "An epidemiological study of food poisoning in Korea and Japan," *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, vol. 29, no. 2–3, pp. 141–148, 1996, doi: 10.1016/0168-1605(95)00075-5.
- [11] C. T.Y.K, "Shellfish-brone illnesse. A Hong Kong prespective," *Blackwell Publ. Inc.*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 305–307, 1995.
- [12] R. Pougnet, L. Pougnet, I. Allio, D. Lucas, J. D. Dewitte, and B. Loddé, "Maritime environment health risks related to pathogenic microorganisms in seawater," *Int. Marit. Health*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 35–45, 2018, doi: 10.5603/IMH.2018.0006.
- [13] I. Brettar and M. Hofle, "Human pathogens in the marine environment -an ecological perspective," *CIESM Work. Monogr. No.31*, vol. Marine Sci, no. January 2006, pp. 59–68, 2007.
- [14] E. Rahimi, M. Raissy, M. Razzaghimanesh, A. Ahmadi Dastgerdi, and M. Momeni Shahraki, "İran'Da Bali {Dotless}K, Karides, Istakoz Ve Yengeçlerde Aeromonas Hydrophila Mevcudiyeti," *Kafkas Univ. Vet. Fak. Derg.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 691–696, 2014, doi: 10.9775/kvfd.2014.10892.
- [15] T. Thayumanavan, G. Vivekanandhan, K. Savithamani, R. Subashkumar, and P. Lakshmanaperumalsamy, "Incidence of haemolysin-positive and drug-resistant Aeromonas hydrophila in freshly caught finfish and prawn collected from major commercial fishes of coastal South India," *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.*, vol. 36,

no. 1-2, pp. 41-45, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0928-8244(03)00037-3.

- [16] K. Krovacek, V. Pasquale, S. B. Baloda, V. Soprano, M. Conte, and S. Dumontet, "Comparison of putative virulence factors in Aeromonas hydrophila strains isolated from the marine environment and human diarrheal cases in southern Italy," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1379–1382, 1994, doi: 10.1128/aem.60.4.1379-1382.1994.
- [17] S. Nahar, M. Mizanur Rahman, G. Uddin Ahmed, M. Ali Reza Faruk, and C. Shamsun Nahar, "Isolation, identification, and characterization of Aeromonas hydrophila from juvenile farmed pangasius (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus)," *Int. J. Fish. Aquat. Stud.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 52–60, 2016, [Online]. Available: www.fisheriesjournal.com.
- [18] M. A. Efstratiou, "Managing Coastal Bathing Water Quality : The Contribution of Microbiology and Epidemiology," vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 425–432, 2001.
- [19] W. Party, "Public health," pp. 1587–1589, 1990.
- [20] A. Casabianca *et al.*, "Effect of starvation on survival and virulence expression of Aeromonas hydrophila from different sources," 2014, doi: 10.1007/s00203-014-1074z.
- [21] K. Park, S. Jung, Y. Jung, J. Shin, and J. Hwang, "Marine Bacteria as a Leading Cause of Necrotizing Fasciitis in Coastal Areas of South Korea," vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 646–650, 2009.
- [22] A. DePAOLA, "Vibrio cholerae in Marine Foods and Environmental Waters: A Literature Review," J. Food Sci., vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 66–70, 1981, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1981.tb14532.x.
- [23] A. Z. Worden *et al.*, "Trophic regulation of Vibrio cholerae in coastal marine waters," *Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 21–29, 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00863.x.
- [24] CDC, "Laboratory identification of Vibrio cholerae," J. Infect. Dis., vol. 208, no. November, pp. 38–67, 2013, [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/cholera/pdf/laboratory-methods-for-the-diagnosis-of-vibriocholerae-chapter-

6.pdf%0Ahttp://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Prevention +and+control+of+cholera+outbreaks+:+WHO+policy+and+recommendations#0%5Cn http://.

- [25] I. Cañigral, Y. Moreno, J. L. Alonso, A. González, and M. A. Ferrús, "Detection of Vibrio vulnificus in seafood, seawater and wastewater samples from a Mediterranean coastal area," *Microbiol. Res.*, vol. 165, no. 8, pp. 657–664, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2009.11.012.
- [26] P. R. Hsueh *et al.*, "Vibrio vulnificus in Taiwan," *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 1363–1368, 2004, doi: 10.3201/eid1008.040047.
- [27] M. Li *et al.*, "Vibrio vulnificus in aquariums is a novel threat to marine mammals and public health," *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 1863–1871, 2018, doi: 10.1111/tbed.12967.
- [28] C. Baker-austin, J. A. Trinanes, N. G. H. Taylor, R. Hartnell, A. Siitonen, and J. Martinez-urtaza, "Emerging Vibrio risk at high latitudes in response to ocean warming," *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 73–77, 2012, doi: 10.1038/nclimate1628.
- [29] S. Huehn *et al.*, "Pathogenic vibrios in environmental, seafood and clinical sources in Germany," *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.*, pp. 1–8, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2014.07.010.
- [30] C. Baker-austin *et al.*, "Heat Wave Associated Vibriosis," vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 1216– 1220, 2016.
- [31] C. Baker-austin, J. Trinanes, N. Gonzalez-escalona, and J. Martinez-urtaza, "Non-Cholera Vibrios : The Microbial Barometer of Climate Change," *Trends Microbiol.*, vol. xx, pp. 1–9, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.09.008.
- [32] C. Baker-austin, D. Ph, J. D. Oliver, and D. Ph, "IDCases Rapidly developing and fatal Vibrio vulni fi cus wound infection," *IDCases*, vol. 6, p. 13, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2016.07.014.
- [33] M. H. Bross, K. Soch, R. Morales, and R. B. Mitchell, "Vibrio vulnificus," 2007.
- [34] S. Oberbeckmann, A. Wichels, K. H. Wiltshire, and G. Gerdts, "Occurrence of Vibrio parahaemolyticus and Vibrio alginolyticus in the German Bight over a seasonal cycle,"

Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, Int. J. Gen. Mol. Microbiol., vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 291–307, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s10482-011-9586-x.

- [35] C. G. Allison, S. L. Murray, E. C. Thompson, M. M. Bird, and J. P. Middaugh, "Outbreak of," pp. 1463–1470, 2005.
- [36] Y. Wu, J. Wen, Y. Ma, X. Ma, and Y. Chen, "Epidemiology of foodborne disease outbreaks caused by Vibrio parahaemolyticus, China, 2003 e 2008," vol. 46, pp. 197–202, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.05.023.
- [37] J. Park *et al.*, "Inactivation of Bacteria in Seawater by Low-Amperage Electric Current," vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 2405–2408, 2003, doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.4.2405.
- [38] C. Mauleo, A. Teresa, D. Tena, M. Arias, and M. P. Jime, "Case Report Fulminant necrotizing fasciitis due to Vibrio parahaemolyticus," pp. 235–238, 2010, doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.014654-0.
- [39] R. Siddiqui *et al.*, "Prevalence of Vibrio alginolyticus in Sediment Samples of River and Coastal Areas of Bangladesh," *Bangladesh J. Microbiol.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2016, doi: 10.3329/bjm.v29i1.28421.
- [40] A. A. Demeulmeester, E. Van Dijk, S. A. Rutjes, H. J. P. Van Hooijdonk, and A. M. D.
 R. Husman, "Vibrio alginolyticus infections in the Netherlands after swimming in the North Sea," 2006.
- [41] T. Mondal, M. Khan, M. Alam, M. Purakayastha, M. Das, and M. Siddique, "Isolation, identification and characterization of *Salmonella* from duck," *Bangladesh J. Vet. Med.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 7–12, 1970, doi: 10.3329/bjvm.v6i1.1331.
- [42] L. P. Catalao Dionisio, M. Joao, V. Soares Ferreiro, M. Leonor Fidalgo, M. E. García Rosado, and J. J. Borrego, "Occurrence of Salmonella spp in estuarine and coastal waters of Portugal," *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, Int. J. Gen. Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 99–106, 2000, doi: 10.1023/A:1002733516539.
- [43] J. Martinez-Urtaza, E. Liebana, L. Garcia-Migura, P. Perez-Piñeiro, and M. Saco,
 "Characterization of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium from marine environments in coastal waters of Galicia (Spain)," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 70, no. 7, pp. 4030–4034, 2004, doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.7.4030-4034.2004.

- [44] M. Services, "UK Standards for Microbiology Investigations Identification of Campylobacter species," pp. 1–24, 2015.
- [45] Zinnah M. A. *et al.*, "Characterization of Escherichia coli isolated from samples of different biological and environmental sources," *Bangladesh J. Vet. Med.*, vol. 5, no. 1&2, pp. 25–32, 2007.
- [46] A. M. Abdelzaher *et al.*, "Presence of Pathogens and Indicator Microbes at a Non-Point Source Subtropical Recreational Marine Beach □ †," vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 724–732, 2010, doi: 10.1128/AEM.02127-09.
- [47] V. Moresco *et al.*, "Microbiological and physicochemical analysis of the coastal waters of southern Brazil," *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 40–48, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.10.026.
- [48] Health protection agency, "Identification of Pseudomonas species and other Non-Glucose Fermenters," UK Stand. Microbiol. Investig., no. 3, pp. 1–41, 2015, [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/344054/ID_25i1.4.pdf.
- [49] E. Rahimi *et al.*, "Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated from marine environments in Tokyo Bay," *Microb. Ecol.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 41–47, 2004, doi: 10.1007/s00248-003-1032-9.
- [50] R. L. Mohammed *et al.*, "Survival trends of Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Clostridium perfringens in a sandy South Florida beach," *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 1201–1209, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.03.010.
- [51] K. K. Sharma and U. Kalawat, "Emerging Infections: Shewanella A Series of Five Cases," *J. Lab. Physicians*, vol. 2, no. 02, pp. 061–065, 2010, doi: 10.4103/0974-2727.72150.
- [52] A. Torri *et al.*, "Shewanella algae infection in Italy: report of 3 years' evaluation along the coast of the northern Adriatic Sea," *New Microbes New Infect.*, vol. 23, pp. 39–43, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2018.01.002.
- [53] M. Gressier, D. Mbayo, H. Deramond, F. Grados, F. Eb, and B. Canarelli, "First case

of human spondylodiscitis due to Shewanella algae," *Int. J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 14, no. SUPPL. 3, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2009.11.007.

- [54] H. H.m, G.-H. B, and B. B, "Shewanella algae and Shewanella putrefaciens: Clinical and microbiological characteristics," *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.*, 2005.
- [55] L. Alcala et al., "UC : CID," vol. 26, p. 1998, 1998.
- [56] F. Gouriet, C. Rovery, P. Paris, V. Roux, D. Raoult, and P. Brouqui, "First Case of Osteomyelitis Due to Shewanella algae," vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 5388–5390, 2005, doi: 10.1128/JCM.43.10.5388.
- [57] M. Liu, S. Gau, and H. Wu, "Acute exudative tonsillitis caused by Shewanella algae in a healthy child," vol. 5548, no. November, pp. 5–7, 2015, doi: 10.1080/00365540600664050.
- [58] H. Holt, S. Per, and B. Gahrn-hansen, "Ear infections with Shewanella alga : a bacteriologic , clinical and epidemiologic study of 67 cases," no. November, pp. 329– 334, 1996.
- [59] B. F. Vogel, H. M. Holt, P. Gerner-smidt, A. Bundvad, P. E. R. Søgaard, and L. Gram,
 "Homogeneity of Danish Environmental and Clinical Isolates of Shewanella algae,"
 vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 443–448, 2000.
- [60] J. A. L. Eong, M. A. M. Irkazemi, and F. R. K. Imble, "CASE REPORT CASE REPORT PARATHYROID ADENOMA LOCALIZATION WITH 99m Tc-MDP BONE," no. February, pp. 816–817, 2000.
- [61] M. Tlanusta Garret, L. D. Borders, L. B. Cruchfield, E. Torres-Rivera, D. Brotherton, and R. Curtis, "Copyright ©2001. All Rights Reserved.," *J. Multicult. Couns. Devel.*, vol. 29, pp. 147–158, 2001.
- [62] S. S. Mutations *et al.*, "Dermohypodermite aiguë de la jambe droite (S. putrefaciens) après une baignade Acute dermohypodermitis of the right leg Mélanomes associés au latanoprost : trois cas Melanoma during latanoprost therapy : Three cases," 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.annder.2008.07.060.
- [63] S. Süzüku, V. Yetener, F. Ergüngör, and N. Balaban, "Cerebellar abscess caused by Shewanella putrefaciens Cerebellar Abscess Caused by Shewanella putrefaciens," vol.

5548, no. November, pp. 36–38, 2015, doi: 10.1080/00365540410018139.

- [64] L. Pagani *et al.*, "Soft Tissue Infection and Bacteremia Caused by Shewanella putrefaciens," vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 2240–2241, 2003, doi: 10.1128/JCM.41.5.2240.
- [65] H. Nakagawa and M. Nishihara, "Campylobacter enterocolitis diagnosed by stool Gram stain," *IDCases*, vol. 7, p. 47, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2016.12.005.
- [66] M. Ghane, F. Moein, and S. Massoudian, "The First Isolation of Campylobacter jejuni from Caspian Sea's Water," *Adv. Stud. Biol.*, vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 407–418, 2012.
- [67] J. L. Alonso and M. A. Alonso, "Presence of Campylobacter in marine waters of Valencia, Spain," *Water Res.*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 1559–1562, 1993, doi: 10.1016/0043-1354(93)90100-V.
- [68] D. Schönberg-Norio *et al.*, "Swimming and Campylobacter infections," *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 1474–1477, 2004, doi: 10.3201/eid1008.030924.
- [69] L. Mandell *et al.*, "Intact gram-negative Helicobacter pylori, Helicobacter felis, and Helicobacter hepaticus bacteria activate innate immunity via toll-like receptor 2 but not toll-like receptor 4," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 72, no. 11, pp. 6446–6454, 2004, doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.11.6446-6454.2004.
- [70] K. I. Twing, D. L. Kirchman, and B. J. Campbell, "Temporal study of Helicobacter pylori presence in coastal freshwater, estuary and marine waters," *Water Res.*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 1897–1905, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2010.12.013.
- [71] M. Carbone, T. L. Maugeri, C. Gugliandolo, E. La Camera, C. Biondo, and M. T. Fera, "Occurrence of Helicobacter pylori DNA in the coastal environment of southern Italy (Straits of Messina)," *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 768–774, 2005, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02517.x.
- [72] K. Konishi, N. Saito, E. Shoji, and H. Takeda, "Helicobacter pylori : longer survival in deep ground water and sea water than in a nutrient-rich environment," pp. 1285–1291, 2007.
- [73] G. Jiménez-Guerra, I. C. Moreno-Torres, T. D. Moldovan, J. M. Navarro-Marí, and J. Gutiérrez-Fernández, "Arcobacter butzleri and intestinal colonization," *Rev. Esp. Quimioter.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 73–75, 2020, doi: 10.37201/req/060.2019.

- [74] M. Ghane and F. G. Moein, "Isolation of Arcobacter Butzleri from Caspian Sea 's Water," no. March, 2014, doi: 10.12691/jaem-2-2-5.
- [75] H. A. L. Yu and E. Balci, "Prevalence of Listeria, Aeromonas, and Vibrio Species in Fish Used for Human Consumption in Turkey," vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 380–384, 2010.
- [76] C. E. D. Rees, L. Doyle, and C. M. Taylor, "Listeria monocytogenes," *Foodborne Dis. Third Ed.*, vol. 27, no. 0, pp. 253–276, 2017, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-385007-2.00012-7.
- [77] R. M. Dillon and T. R. Patel, "Listeria in Seafoods : A Review t t," vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 1009–1015, 1992.
- [78] P. J. Bremer, C. M. Osborne, R. A. Kemp, and J. J. Smith, "Survival of Listeria monocytogenes in sea water and effect of exposure on thermal resistance," pp. 545– 553, 1998.
- [79] F. Fish, M. In, and I. Youssef, "OCCURRENCE OF LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES IN SOME MARINE FRESH AND OCCURRENCE OF LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES IN SOME MARINE FRESH AND FROZEN FISH MARKETED IN DAMIETTA, EGYPT," no. September, 2016.
- [80] D. R. Murdoch and R. L. Greenlees, "Rapid identification of Staphylococcus aureus from BacT/ALERT blood culture bottles by direct Gram stain characteristics," J. Clin. Pathol., vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 199–201, 2004, doi: 10.1136/jcp.2003.10538.
- [81] K. D. Goodwin, M. McNay, Y. Cao, D. Ebentier, M. Madison, and J. F. Griffith, "A multi-beach study of Staphylococcus aureus, MRSA, and enterococci in seawater and beach sand," *Water Res.*, vol. 46, no. 13, pp. 4195–4207, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2012.04.001.
- [82] M. G. Johnson and J. E. Stout, "Twenty-eight cases of Mycobacterium marinum infection: retrospective case series and literature review," *Infection*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 655–662, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s15010-015-0776-8.
- [83] T. K. Pandian, P. J. Deziel, C. C. Otley, A. J. Eid, and R. R. Razonable,
 "Mycobacterium marinum infections in transplant recipients : case report and review of the literature," pp. 358–363, 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3062.2008.00317.x.

- [84] E. Sim *et al.*, "Two cases of occupationally acquired Mycobacterium marinum infection in Chinese restaurant workers in Melbourne, Australia," *Australas. J. Dermatol.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 231–232, 2018, doi: 10.1111/ajd.12746.
- [85] E. Hashish *et al.*, "Mycobacterium marinum infection in fish and man: Epidemiology, pathophysiology and management; a review," *Vet. Q.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 35–46, 2018, doi: 10.1080/01652176.2018.1447171.
- [86] S. Belkin and R. R. Colwell, Oceans and health: Pathogens in the marine environment, no. May 2014. 2005.
- [87] Y. Rozen and S. Belkin, "Survival of enteric bacteria in seawater: Molecular aspects," Ocean. Heal. Pathog. Mar. Environ., vol. 25, pp. 93–107, 2005, doi: 10.1007/0-387-23709-7_4.
- [88] M. E. Nielsen *et al.*, "Is Aeromonas hydrophila the dominant motile Aeromonas species that causes disease outbreaks in aquaculture production in the Zhejiang Province of China?," *Dis. Aquat. Organ.*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 23–29, 2001, doi: 10.3354/dao046023.
- [89] K. A. O'Grady and V. Krause, "An outbreak of salmonellosis linked to a marine turtle," *Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Public Health*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 324–327, 1999.
- [90] C. E. Trigo and F. Patel, "Febrile illness after a beach day: A case of Salmonella bacteremia from oral exposure to a sand dollar," *J. Water Health*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 239–243, 2020, doi: 10.2166/wh.2020.201.
- [91] W. Ahmed, P. Gyawali, J. P. S. Sidhu, and S. Toze, "Relative inactivation of faecal indicator bacteria and sewage markers in freshwater and seawater microcosms," *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 348–354, 2014, doi: 10.1111/lam.12285.
- [92] P. K. Bienfang *et al.*, "Prominent human health impacts fromseveralmarine microbes: History, ecology, and public health implications," *Int. J. Microbiol.*, vol. 2011, 2011, doi: 10.1155/2011/152815.
- [93] B. Wilson, A. Muirhead, M. Bazanella, C. Huete-Stauffer, L. Vezzulli, and D. G. Bourne, "An improved detection and quantification method for the coral pathogen Vibrio coralliilyticus," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 1–7, 2013, doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0081800.